FILE COPY



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGE

NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY OF PITTSBURGH, PA., et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

WESTLAKE CHEMICAL CORPORATION, et al.,

Respondents.

From the Circuit Court of Marshall County, West Virginia, Business Court Division No. 19-C-59, the Honorable Judge Christopher Wilkes

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Jeffrey M. Wakefield, Esq. (WVSB #3894) Flaherty Sensabaugh Bonasso, PLLC 200 Capitol Street Charleston, WV 25301 Tel: (304) 345-0200 jwakefield@flahertylegal.com Counsel for Petitioners

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
PROCEDURAL HISTORY
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT16
STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION18
STANDARD OF REVIEW
ARGUMENT18
I. THE BUSINESS COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE CORROSION EXCLUSION DID NOT BAR RESPONDENTS' DAMAGE CLAIMS
II. THE BUSINESS COURT ERRED IN NOT APPLYING THE CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS FAULTY WORKMANSHIP EXCLUSION TO RESPONDENTS' CLAIMS
III. THE BUSINESS COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE CONTAMINATION EXCLUSIONS IN ENDORSEMENT NO. 1 AND ENDORSEMENT NO. 10 DO NOT PRECLUDE COVERAGE
IV. THE BUSINESS COURT ERRED IN STRIKING PETITIONERS' AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES RELATED TO THE EXCLUSIONS BECAUSE ISSUES TO WHICH THE EXCLUSIONS APPLY REMAIN OUTSTANDING 40
CONCLUSION

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

ALEA London Ltd. v. Woodcock, 286 Ga. App. 572, 576, 649 S.E.2d 740, 744 (2007)
Atlantic Cas. Ins. Co. v. Zymblosky, No. 1167 MDA 2016, 2017 WL 3017728, at *1-4 (Pa. Super. Ct. July 17, 2017)
Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Reed, 649 S.E.2d 843 (Ga. Ct. App. 2007)
Bettigole v. Am. Employers Ins. Co., 567 N.E.2d 1259, 1260-62 (Mass. Ct. App. 1991)25
Bishop v. Alfa Mut. Ins. Co., 796 F. Supp. 2d 814, 822-23 (S.D. Miss. 2011)
Club Libra, Inc. v. R. L. King Props., LLC, 324 Ga. App. 547, 548, 751 S.E.2d 418, 419 (2013)
Erie Ins. Prop. & Cas. Co. v. Chaber, 239 W. Va. 329, 337, 801 S.E.2d 207, 215 (2017)
Evanston Ins. Co. v. Sandersville R.R. Co., No. 5:15-CV-247, 2016 WL 5662040, at *4 (M.D. Ga. Sept. 29, 2016)
Ga. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Smith, 298 Ga. 716, 719, 784 S.E.2d 422, 424 (2016)
Gilbane Building Co. v. Altman Co., No. 04AP-664, 2005 WL 534906, at *5 (Ohio Ct. App. March 8, 2005)
Gulf Ins. Co. v. City of Holland, No. 1:98-CV-774, 2000 WL 33679413, at *2-6 (W.D. Mich. April 3, 2000)
<i>Gray v. Boyd</i> , 233 W. Va. 243, 757 S.E.2d 773 (2014)
Hayseeds v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 177 W. Va. 323, 352 S.E.2d 73 (1986)
HP Hood LLC v. Allianz Global Risks U.S. Ins. Co., 39 N.E.3d 769 (Mass. App. Ct. 2015)

In re: Chinese Manuf. Drywall Prod. Liab. Litig., 759 F. Supp. 2d 822, 846, 848 (E.D. La. 2010)
Jefferson Ins. Co. of New York v. Dunn, 269 Ga. 213, 215, 496 S.E.2d 696, 699 (1998)
Kroll Construction Co. v. Great American Ins. Co., 594 F. Supp. 304, 305 (N.D. Ga. 1984)
Lantheus Med. Imaging, Inc. v. Zurich Am. Ins. Co, 255 F. Supp. 3d 443, 446, 462 (S.D. N.Y. 2015)
Maston v. Wagner, 236 W. Va. 488, 781 S.E.2d 936 (2015)
Michna v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Ga., 288 Ga. App. 112, 113, 653 S.E.2d 377, 379 (2007)
Mock v. Central Mut. Ins. Co., 158 F. Supp. 3d 1332 (S.D. Ga. 2016)
Nicholas Loan & Mortg., Inc. v. W.Va. Coal Co-Op, Inc., 209 W. Va. 296, 547 S.E.2d 234 (2001)
Owners Ins. Co. v. Farmer, 173 F. Supp. 2d 1330 (N.D. Ga. 2001)
Peek v. Am. Integrity Ins. Co. of Fla., 181 So. 3d 508 (D. Ct. App. Fla. 2015)
Pilot Life Ins. Co. v. Morgan, 94 Ga. App. 394, 94 S.E.2d 765, 768 (Ga. Ct. App. 1956)
Pioneer Chlor Alkali Co. v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, PA, 863 F. Supp. 1226, 1228, 1235-36 (D. Nev. 1994)20
Ramaco Res., LLC v. Fed. Ins. Co., No. 2:19-cv-00703, 2021 WL 2582823, at *9 (S.D. W. Va. June 23, 2021)
Rountree v. Encompass Home & Auto Ins. Co., 501 F. Supp. 3d 1351, 1358-59 (S.D. Ga. 2020)
Ryan v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co, 261 Ga. 869, 872, 413 S.E.2d 705, 707 (1992) 19, 22, 34, 38
Sewell v. Hull/Storey Dev., 241 Ga. App. 365, 366, 526 S.E.2d 878 (1999)

State ex rel. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa. v. Hummel., 243 W. Va. 681, 683, 850 S.E.2d 680, 682 (2020)
Sumitomo Marine & Fire Ins. Co. of Am. v. S. Guar. Ins. Co. of Georgia, 337 F. Supp. 2d 1339 (N.D. Ga. 2004)
Swire Pac Holdings, Inc. v. Zurich Ins. Co., 845 So. 2d 161, 167 (Fla. 2003)
<i>Taja Invs., LLC v. Peerless Ins. Co.,</i> 196 F. Supp. 3d 587 (E.D. Va. 2016)
<i>TMW Enterprises, Inc. v. Federal Insurance Co.</i> , 619 F.3d 574, 576 (6th Cir. 2010)
TRAVCO Ins. Co. v. Ward, 715 F. Supp. 2d 699, 714-15 (E.D. Va. 2010)
<i>TRAVCO Ins. Co. v. Ward</i> , 284 Va. 547, 558-59, 736 S.E.2d 321, 328 (2012)
United States Fidelity & Guar. Co. v. Jones Chemicals, Inc., No. 98-4018, 199 WL 801589, 194 F.3d 1315 (6th Cir. Sept. 27, 1999)
U.S. Industries, Inc. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 690 F.2d 459 (5th Cir. 1982)27

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Business Court erred in granting Respondents' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to the "Corrosion" Exclusion Defense and in denying Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment on the same exclusion.

2. The Business Court erred in granting Respondents' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to the "Faulty Workmanship" Exclusion Defense and in denying Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment on the same exclusion.

3. The Business Court erred in granting Respondents' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to the "Contamination" Exclusion Defense and in denying Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment on the same exclusion.

4. The Business Court erred in striking affirmative defenses related to the relevant exclusions despite recognizing two of the exclusions may apply to portions of Respondents' claim.

STATEMENT OF CASE

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal from three separate Orders entered by the Business Court granting motions for partial summary judgment filed by Respondents on insurance coverage issues and denying Petitioners' competing motions for summary judgment on the same issues. The Orders are: (1) Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Defendants' "Corrosion" Exclusion Defense and Denying Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment Concerning Enforcement of Corrosion Exclusion; (2) Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Workmanship" Exclusion Defense and Denying Defendants' "Faulty Workmanship" Exclusion Defense and Denying Defendants' Motion for Corresing Enforcement of Summary Judgment Concerning Enforcement of Summary Judgment Regarding Defendants' "Faulty Workmanship" Exclusion Defense and Denying Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment Concerning Enforcement of Summary Judgment for Summary Judgment Concerning Enforcement of Summary Judgment for Summary Judgment Concerning Enforcement of Corrosion for Summary Judgment Concerning Enforcement of Summary Judgment Regarding Defendants' "Faulty Workmanship" Exclusion Defense and Denying Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment Concerning Enforcement of Faulty Workmanship Exclusion; and (3) Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for

Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Defendants' "Contamination" Exclusion Defense and Denying Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment Concerning Enforcement of Endorsement No. 1 and National Union Endorsement No. 19 (sometimes collectively the "Orders"). [J.A. 011902-33].¹ Petitioners seek reversal of the Orders with direction to the Business Court to enter summary judgment in their favor.

A. The Underlying Incident

On August 27, 2016, an old railroad tank car at Respondents' chlorine manufacturing plant in Natrium, Marshall County, West Virginia ("Natrium Plant")² experienced a 42-inch long crack in its tank shell, releasing approximately 178,400 pounds of liquified chlorine. [J.A. 000182]. The release prompted a temporary shutdown of the Natrium Plant, with the facility and all units returning to full operation within a few days of the release, on September 2, 2016, and it has continuously operated without notable interruption for the past five-plus years on a 24/7/365 basis. [J.A. 000228].

The chlorine release occurred minutes after the railroad tank car was loaded for the first time after having been taken out of service for corrosion repairs and other maintenance work. The repairs were made in the area of the tank car where the crack formed. [J.A. 000184; 000196]. Following the release, the National Transportation Safety Board ("NTSB") conducted an investigation and issued a report which noted that during tank car repairs performed by third parties, there was a "significantly overheated region and uncontrolled heat treatment processes." [J.A. 000183]. The "Probable Cause" section of the NTSB report further noted "the presence of residual stresses associated with Rescar Companies' tank wall corrosion repairs and uncontrolled local post-weld heat treatment" during the same repairs. *Id.*

¹ Petitioners' citations to the record herein refer to the page number designated in the top right corner of the Joint Appendix ("J.A.").

² The Natrium Plant began chlorine manufacturing operations in 1943.

B. The Lawsuits Against Third-Party Contractors

The chlorine release spawned two civil actions initiated by Respondent Axiall Corporation³ ("Respondent Axiall") against the third-party contractors involved with the inspection, maintenance, and repair work performed on the railroad tank car just prior to the release. One case was filed in the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, Civil Division No. GD-18-010944 ("Pennsylvania Action")⁴, and the other was filed in the Circuit Court of Marshall County, West Virginia, Civil Action No. 18-C-203. [J.A. 000976]. In these actions, Respondent Axiall claimed the following negligent acts and omissions in the third-party contractors' work on the railroad tank car caused the rupture and chlorine release:

- a. In failing to use ordinary care in the fulfillment of their work on or in connection with the railroad tank car;
- b. In failing to comply with the standard of care in the industry in performing their work on or in connection with the railroad tank car;
- c. In the case of Rescar, in failing to perform repair work with the minimal level of care required in order to prevent the railroad tank car's shell rupturing upon first post-repair use;
- d. In the case of AllTranstek, in failing to employ the reasonable care required to recognize that Rescar's repairs were faulty, and that the railroad tank car was not fit for return to chlorine service; [and]
- e. In the case of Superheat, in failing to adhere to the standard of care required in monitoring heat treating during the course of the railroad tank car repairs.

[J.A. 000409].

In pursuing these actions, Respondent Axiall has acknowledged that faulty work of third

parties in failing to properly conduct post-weld heat treatment, among other things, caused the

³ Respondent Westlake Chemical Corporation acquired Respondent Axiall Corporation through a hostile takeover on August 31, 2016—four days after the chlorine release—and is not a plaintiff in either of these actions. [J.A. 008971; 009060-61]. Respondent Axiall Corporation is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Respondent Westlake Chemical Corporation and the Business Court has found that Westlake Chemical Corporation for purposes of these actions. [J.A. 011949-50].

⁴ The Pennsylvania Action involves the same damages to the Natrium Plant that are being sought in the instant matter from Petitioners. That case was tried to a jury and a verdict was reached that the damage to the Natrium Plant was \$5.9 million. By Order of the Business Court dated March 3, 2022, Respondents are collaterally estopped from re-litigating the issue of damage to the Natrium Plant on the basis of the jury verdict in the Pennsylvania Action. [J.A. 011948-49].

rupture of the railroad tank car and the chlorine release. [J.A. 000410]. Respondent Axiall has also taken the position that the alleged damage to the Natrium Plant was a "direct and proximate result of the [third parties'] negligent acts and omissions" and is comprised entirely of corrosion or the risk of future corrosion to equipment and other plant property. [J.A. 000409; 000764-65; 000776-67; 000770-71; 000674].

C. The Insurance Policy

Petitioners⁵ collectively issued a total of thirteen (13) separate policies of commercial property insurance to Respondent Axiall for the 2015-2016 policy period which covered, subject to applicable terms and conditions, the Natrium Plant. Each Petitioner, in issuing the policies, subscribed to certain "quota-shares" of the insurance for the Natrium Plant. The policies (hereinafter collectively "Policy") each contain identical exclusions relating to corrosion, faulty workmanship, and contamination that Petitioners maintain bar coverage for Respondents' claims that form the basis of the Business Court action. [J.A. 000230].

The corrosion and faulty workmanship exclusions are contained in Section B.3.C and B.3.D which provide, respectively:

This policy does not insure against loss, damage or expense caused by or resulting from:

- C. Loss or damage from wear and tear, rust, **corrosion**, erosion, depletion or gradual deterioration, but not excluding resultant physical loss or damage from a covered peril;
- D. Loss or damage from inherent vice, faulty methods of construction, errors or omissions in plan or specification design or errors in processing, latent

⁵ Petitioners are the following twelve insurance companies who are defendants in the Business Court action: National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pa.; Allianz Global Risks US Insurance Company; ACE American Insurance Company; Zurich American Insurance Company; Great Lakes Insurance SE; XL Insurance America, Inc.; General Security Indemnity Company of Arizona; Aspen Insurance UK Limited; Navigators Management Company, Inc.; Ironshore Specialty Insurance Company; Validus Specialty Underwriting Services, Inc. f/k/a Talbot Underwriting Services (US) Ltd.; and HDI-Gerling America Insurance Company n/k/a HDI Global Insurance Company.

defect, **faulty** materials, or **workmanship**. This exclusion does not apply to resultant physical loss or damage not otherwise excluded[.]

[J.A. 000249] (emphasis added).

The Policy contains a contamination exclusion in Endorsement No. 1 which provides:

SEEPAGE AND/OR POLLUTION AND/OR CONTAMINATION EXCLUSION

Notwithstanding any provision in the Policy to which this Endorsement is attached, this Policy does not insure against loss, damage, costs or expenses in connection with any kind or description of seepage and/or pollution and/or contamination, direct or indirect, arising from any cause whatsoever.

Nevertheless if a peril not excluded from this Policy arises directly or indirectly from seepage and/or pollution and/or contamination any loss or damage insured under this Policy arising directly from that peril shall (subject to the terms, conditions and limitations of the Policy) be covered.

However, if the insured property is the subject of direct physical loss or damage for which this company has paid or agreed to pay then this Policy (subject to its terms, conditions and limitations) insures against direct physical loss or damage to the property insured hereunder caused by resulting seepage and/or pollution and/or contamination.

[J.A. 000268].

In addition, the National Union United States Policy⁶ includes a separate, additional

endorsement entitled "POLLUTION, CONTAMINATION, DEBRIS REMOVAL

EXCLUSION ENDORSEMENT" ("Endorsement No. 19"). Endorsement No. 19 provides, in

relevant part:

2. Pollution and Contamination Exclusion.

This policy does not cover loss or damage caused by, resulting from, contributed to or made worse by actual, alleged or threatened release, discharge, escape or

⁶ Petitioner National Union issued two policies to Respondent Axiall for the 2015 – 2016 policy period. Policy No. 020786808 was issued out of the United States and Policy No. 27015349 was issued out of the United Kingdom. Policy No. 020786808 is the only Policy that contains an additional contamination exclusion in Endorsement No. 19.

dispersal of CONTAMINANTS or POLLUTANTS, all whether direct or indirect, proximate or remote or in whole or in part caused by, contributed to or aggravated by any physical damage insured by this policy.

CONTAMINANTS or POLLUTANTS means any solid, liquid, gaseous or thermal irritant or contaminant, including smoke, vapor, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, chemicals and waste, which after its release can cause or threaten damage to human health or human welfare or causes or threatens damage, deterioration, loss of value, marketability or loss of use to property insured hereunder, including, but not limited to, bacteria, virus, or hazardous substances as listed in the Federal Water, Pollution Control Act, Clean Air Act, Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, and Toxic Substances Control Act or as designated by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Waste includes materials to be recycled, reconditioned or reclaimed.

This exclusion shall not apply when loss or damage is directly caused by fire, lightning, aircraft impact, explosion, riot, civil commotion, smoke, vehicle impact, windstorm, hail, vandalism, malicious mischief. This exclusion shall also not apply when loss or damage is directly caused by leakage or accidental discharge from automatic fire protective systems.

[J.A. 000293].

Respondent Westlake Chemical Corporation's ("Respondent Westlake") first act with respect to the Policy, after acquiring Respondent Axiall days after the release, was to immediately terminate it effective midnight on August 30, 2016, and secure \$2,349,669 from Petitioners in return premiums. [J.A. 008450-51; 009065-67; 009070-71]. On August 31, 2016, per Respondent Westlake's instruction, the Policy was cancelled effective August 31, 2016. [J.A. 008450; 008903-04].

D. Respondents' Insurance Claim

Respondents submitted a claim for coverage under the Policy issued by Petitioners. Respondent Westlake has claimed that restarting the Natrium Plant required it to replace certain items of equipment that allegedly failed as a result of the chlorine release. One year after the release, Respondent Westlake provided a list of costs incurred to repair the allegedly damaged equipment. These costs were approximately \$1 million—well below the Policy's \$3.75 million property damage deductible. [J.A. 000060; 000332-34].

On May 22, 2018, Westlake first submitted a claim purportedly above the Policy's property damage deductible for \$5,764,231. [J.A. 009511-15]. This claim submission came four months after Petitioners issued a reservation of rights letter identifying, *inter alia*, the potential application of the corrosion, faulty workmanship, and contamination exclusions. [J.A. 009516-24]. Despite numerous prior requests for pre-release photographs and after the passage of more than two years after the chlorine release, Respondent Westlake finally provided more than 40,000 photographs of the Natrium Plant, including thousands of pre-release photographs which showed extensive pre-release corrosion throughout the aged plant and equipment. [J.A. 008463].

On January 28, 2019, after Petitioners' technical consultants had completed their review of the photographs that had only been provided a few months earlier and their investigation of the cause of the railroad tank car rupture and the nature and extent of any alleged damage, Petitioners denied the May 22, 2018, claim. Petitioners' denial was based upon the application of multiple policy exclusions, including the corrosion and faulty workmanship exclusions, and the contamination exclusions found in Endorsement No. 1 and Endorsement No. 19. [J.A. 009622-28]. The response of Respondents to the January 28, 2019, denial was to submit an updated claim for \$278,505,078 on March 20, 2019. [J.A. 009566-70]. While the updated claim substantially increased the size of the claim, it sought coverage for the same type of excluded damages as the claim originally submitted on May 22, 2018, though Respondents' incurred costs remained nearly unchanged from the original claim submission. The updated claim simply added more than \$250 million in estimates for the replacement of all of the instrumentation, electronics, and metal lagging and banding located downstream of the chlorine release point, as well as additional estimated contingency costs that **may** be incurred if and when any work was ever

done at the Natrium Plant. Petitioners denied the updated claim on April 9, 2019, again on multiple grounds, including the corrosion and faulty workmanship exclusions, the asbestos exclusions, and the contamination exclusions in Endorsement No. 1 and Endorsement No. 19. [J.A. 009571-78].

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On April 9, 2019, Petitioners denied coverage for the updated claim and initiated an action in Delaware State Court. The next day, April 10, 2019, Respondents filed the underlying action in the Circuit Court of Marshall County asserting five causes of action: (1) Declaratory Judgment; (2) Breach of Contract; (3) Bad Faith Under Georgia Law; (4) Bad Faith Under West Virginia Law; and (5) Statutory Bad Faith Under the West Virginia Unfair Trade Practices Act. [J.A. 000001-19].

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