No. 21-1016



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY OF PITTSBURGH, PA., et al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

WESTLAKE CHEMICAL CORPORATION, et al.

Respondents.



From the Circuit Court of Marshall County, West Virginia, Business Court Division No. 19-C-59, the Honorable Judge Christopher Wilkes

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Respondents, by Counsel:

Jeffrey V. Kessler (WVSB # 2026) Berry, Kessler, Crutchfield, Taylor & Gordon 514 7th Street Moundsville, WV 26041 Tel: (304) 845-2580 jkessler@bkctg.com John M. Sylvester (pro hac vice)
Paul C. Fuener (pro hac vice)
David R. Osipovich (pro hac vice)
Travis L. Brannon (WVSB # 9883)
K&L Gates LLP

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

³⁶ The last case the Insurers cite in support of their "faulty workmanship" argument – *Peek* – does not actually involve a "faulty workmanship" exclusion or any of the relevant policy language at issue here. Rather, it involves a "latent defect" exclusion. *See Peek v. Am. Integrity Ins. Co. of Fla.*, 181 So. 3d 508, 511 (Fla. App. Ct. 2015). This case also relies on *TravCo*, which is inapposite as discussed *supra* at 20.

as a whole. See York, 544 S.E.2d at 157 ("In construing an insurance contract, a court must consider it as a whole, give effect to each provision, and interpret each provision to harmonize with each other.").

B. The Business Court Correctly Interpreted Endorsement Nos. 1 and 19 Based on the Plain, Unambiguous Language of the Policies Considered as a Whole

The exclusion in Endorsement No. 1 provides, in relevant part, that "...this Policy does not insure against loss, damage, costs or expenses in connection with any kind or description of seepage and/or pollution and/or contamination, direct or indirect, arising from any cause whatsoever." J.A. at 01195-96, 001659-60. The Insurers argue that that this is a "broad" "contamination" exclusion that bars coverage for any damage to any type of insured property arising from the Tank Car Rupture and chlorine cloud, regardless of whether the event causing the damage was a sudden and accidental, covered peril or, alternatively, was an event of seepage and pollution of land, air or water requiring remediation pursuant to environmental regulations.

When the snippet of language that the Insurers pluck out of the entirety of Endorsement No. 1 is read in context – as the Business Court correctly did below – it is clear that the phrase "seepage and/or pollution and/or contamination" refers to types of environmental impairment, and not to physical loss or damage to operating equipment at the Natrium Plant arising from a chemical attack resulting from a sudden industrial accident, such as the Tank Car Rupture.

As the Business Court noted, the terms "seepage and/or pollution and/or contamination" are not defined anywhere in the Policies. J.A. at 011909, 001195-96, 001619-001692. Indeed, this phrase is found only in Endorsement No. 1. Accordingly, the Business Court properly looked to the other uses of the phrase "seepage and/or pollution and/or contamination" in Endorsement No. 1 to elucidate the intended meaning of that phrase. In doing so, the Business Court observed that Endorsement No. 1 also contains a related "Authorities Exclusion" which clearly indicates

that the terms "seepage," "pollution," and "contamination," are all deemed forms of "environmental impairment because they follow the word "including," which means that they are encompassed within the meaning of "environmental impairment," and not outside that meaning, as the Insurers contend:

This Policy does not cover expenses, fines, penalties or court costs, incurred or sustained by the Insured or imposed on the Insured at the order of any government agency, court or other authority, in connection with any kind or description of environmental impairment, including seepage or pollution or contamination from any cause. J.A. at 011908 (emphasis added).

The Business Court also looked further at the entirety of Endorsement No. 1 and observed that the endorsement includes a section addressing coverage for "Pollutant Cleanup and Removal (Land & Water)," which further confirmed that the undefined term "seepage and/or pollution and/or contamination" as used in Endorsement No. 1 referred unambiguously to environmental impairment of land, air or bodies of water "and not operating equipment or other property at the Natrium Plant" as a result of an industrial accident like the Tank Car Rupture. J.A. at 011908. Likewise, with respect to Endorsement No. 19 – which is found in only one of the thirteen Policies at issue³⁷ – the Business Court again turned to the language of the endorsement "in its entirety," as well as looking to its context in the Policy as a whole, and determined that it too was clearly intended to address environmental pollution or contamination. *Id.* at 11909-10. As an initial matter, the Business Court noted that Endorsement No. 19 added to the AIG-US Policy does not state that it deletes and replaces or otherwise supersedes the coverage provided via the exceptions to Endorsement No. 1 (which are discussed below). In fact, as the Business Court recognized, Endorsement No. 19 says the exact opposite, providing that "[a]ll other terms, conditions, and

³⁷ There was a disputed issue of fact as to whether Endorsement No. 19 was properly part of the AIG-US policy. J.A. 001108. However, that issue was rendered moot by the Business Court's ruling that, even if properly part of the AIG-US Policy, Endorsement No. 19 did not bar coverage for Westlake's claim. J.A. 011909-10.

exclusions of this policy remain unchanged." J.A. 011909-10.³⁸ Moreover, in a discussion that the Insurers completely ignore in their appeal, the Business Court noted that Endorsement No. 19 contains other provisions – including "Debris Removal Exclusion" and "Authorities Exclusion" removal sections – that expressly reference environmental pollution and contamination of land and water, as well as governmental fines and penalties in connection therewith. J.A. 011910.

Remarkably, the Insurers contend that the Business Court committed reversible error by analyzing the policy language of the endorsements at issue in their entirety, as required by Georgia law. Brief at 37-38. For example, even though the "Authorities Exclusion" in Endorsement No. 1 contains the only other usage of the undefined phrase "seepage and/or pollution and/or contamination" anywhere in the Policies, the Insurers contend that the Business Court should have disregarded the language of the Authorities Exclusion provision because it "appears on a different page of the Policy" and is found in a separate paragraph of Endorsement No. 1 that "has a different title" from the exclusion paragraph on which the Insurers rely. *Id.* Notably, the Insurers do not dispute that the phrase "seepage and/or pollution and/or contamination" refers to forms of "environmental impairment" in Endorsement No. 1's Authorities Exclusion provision. *See id.* at 38. Rather, the Insurers argue the Business Court – and this Court – should put on blinders and ignore whatever policy language is inconsistent with the Insurers' proffered interpretation of the

³⁸ The Business Court noted that its interpretation of Endorsement No. 19 – which was grounded in plain-language interpretation of the whole of the relevant Policy language – was consistent with AIG's admission that the scope of the exclusion in AIG's Endorsement No. 19 was no broader than the scope of Endorsement No. 1. The Insurers completely omit the Business Court's discussion of AIG's admission and instead attack the Business Court for also noting that the broker involved in placing the policies testified in agreement with AIG's representative (and with the plain language of the endorsement) that Endorsement No. 19 does not operate to exclude anything that would be otherwise covered under the terms of Endorsement No. 1. Brief at 37 (asserting Business Court relied on "self-serving testimony" of the third-party broker). Notably, this testimony was not the basis of the Business Court's interpretation of the scope of Endorsement No. 19. Rather, this testimony confirms that all parties agreed that Endorsement No. 19 has no broader exclusionary effect than that of Endorsement No. 1. J.A. 011909-10. Further, this testimony does not address the meaning of Endorsement No. 1, and so the Insurers have no basis to complain about the Court's reference to this testimony with respect to its interpretation of Endorsement No. 1.

Policies. The Court should reject the Insurers' strained attempt to avoid basic principles of Georgia insurance policy interpretation. *See York*, 544 S.E.2d at 157.

Finally, the Insurers contend that the Business Court erred by not applying case law that the Insurers offer in support of their position with respect to the "pollution and contamination" exclusions at issue. That the Business Court opted not to include a lengthy discussion of the Insurers' proffered case law is unsurprising, given that none of the Insurers' cases interpreted the exclusionary language at issue here. The Court's task was to apply the language of the Policies as written, and not to simply adopt the reasoning of courts applying different policy language in other types of insurance policies involving dissimilar factual contexts.

Specifically, the Insurers' cases all involve the interpretation and application of the "absolute pollution exclusion" found in commercial general liability ("CGL") insurance policies dealing with coverage for third-party liabilities. By contrast, the Policies at issue here are first-party property policies, which do not contain the "absolute pollution exclusion." *See Ga. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Smith*, 784 S.E.2d 422, 425 (Ga. 2016) (CGL policy's exclusion with express definition of "pollutant" encompassed a claim for bodily injury arising out of lead paint ingested by child); *Evanston Ins. Co. v. Sandersville R.R. Co.*, No. 5:15-cv-247, 2016 WL 5662040, at *5 (M.D. Ga. Sept. 29, 2016) (claim for bodily injury claim arising from exposure to welding fumes excluded pursuant to CGL policy's definition of "pollutant"); *Owners Ins. Co. v. Farmer*, 173 F. Supp. 2d 1330, 1333 (N.D. Ga. 2001) (CGL policy excluded coverage because diesel fuel fell within the policy's definition of "pollutant").³⁹

³⁹ The case law cited by the Insurers from jurisdictions outside of Georgia – all of which is unpublished – is likewise inapposite. See U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co. v. Jones Chems., Inc., 194 F.3d 1315, 1315 (6th Cir. 1999) (applying Ohio law to interpret a CGL policy's pollution exclusion which contained an express definition of "pollutant" to claims for bodily injury from chlorine exposure); Atl. Cas. Ins. Co. v. Zymblosky, No. 1167 MDA 2916, 2017 WL 3017728, at *4 (Pa. Super. Ct. July 17, 2017) (under Pennsylvania law a "total pollution exclusion endorsement" in CGL policy with express definition of "pollutants" barred coverage for bodily injury claims from chlorine exposure); Gulf Ins. Co. v. City of Holland, No. 1:98CV774, 2000 WL 33679413, at *4 (W.D. Mich. Apr. 3, 2000) (under Michigan law.

C. The Business Court Correctly Held, in the Alternative, That an Exception to the Exclusion in Endorsement No. 1 Is Applicable

After ruling that the "seepage and/or pollution and/or contamination" exclusion of Endorsement No. 1 "clearly and unambiguously does not apply to Westlake's claim" from the Tank Car Rupture and chlorine release, the Business Court held, in the alternative, that "even if the rupture of the tank car on August 27, 2016 resulted in 'seepage and/or pollution and/or contamination,' . . . any physical loss or damage caused thereby is not excluded – but rather is expressly covered – under the unambiguous, plain language of [an] exception to the exclusion." J.A. 011908-09. Specifically, the second exception to the exclusionary language of Endorsement No. 1 expressly states:

However, if the insured property is the subject of direct physical loss or damage for which this company has paid or agreed to pay then this Policy (subject to its terms, conditions and limitations) insures against direct physical loss or damage to the property insured hereunder caused by resulting seepage and/or pollution and/or contamination. J.A. 01659.

Contrary to the Insurers' contention on appeal, the Business Court unequivocally found that the burden of proof had been met in establishing the application of this exception language in Endorsement No. 1. Applying the plain language of this exception to the undisputed facts of the loss, the Business Court found that (a) both the tank car and the chlorine product therein constituted types of "insured property" covered by the Policies; and (b) both the insured tank car and the insured chlorine product were "the subject of direct physical loss or damage" from a peril that the Insurers had agreed to cover under their Policies, namely: "[t]he sudden and accidental rupture of the tank car." J.A. 011909. The Business Court correctly interpreted the language of the exception referring to insured property "for which this company has paid or agreed to pay" as referring to

exclusions in boiler and machinery and auto policies including express definitions of "pollutants" excluded claims for property damage from chlorine release).

property that the Insurers had agreed to cover under the terms and conditions of their Policies in connection with a covered peril. *See id.* The Business Court rejected the Insurers' absurd argument that by unilaterally deciding to deny coverage that the Insurers can void the application of this exception. The Policies cannot be reasonably interpreted to work this way, and the Business Court correctly interpreted the "agreed to pay" language as referring to the Insurers' objective agreement to provide coverage as stated under the terms and conditions set forth in the Policies, not the Insurers' after-the-fact decision whether to honor their contractual obligations to pay a covered claim. *See* J.A. 011909.⁴⁰

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Westlake respectfully requests that this Court affirm the Business Court's Orders.⁴¹

⁴⁰ As with their "corrosion" and "faulty workmanship" exclusion arguments, the Insurers argue once again that the Business Court did not find that the policy language of Endorsement Nos. 1 and 19 was ambiguous – implicitly arguing that any unambiguous exclusionary language in a policy must *a priori* be understood to mean what the Insurers say it means. In fact, the Business Court simply found that the exclusions at issue clearly and unambiguously did *not* apply to Westlake's claim pursuant to their plain language. J.A. 011909. Nevertheless, even if the Business Court – or this Court – were to find that any of the exclusions at issue here were susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, that would simply mean that the exclusion was ambiguous, in which case Georgia law requires that the exclusions be construed against the Insurers and in favor of coverage. *See Hurst*, 470 S.E.2d at 663; *Golden*, 373 S.E.2d at 653.

⁴¹ The Insurers contend that the Business Court's decision to strike from their Answer portions of their Seventeenth Affirmative Defense, which asserts the exclusions discussed herein, is improper with respect to Sections 3.C and 3.D. Brief at 40. As to Section 3.C, the Insurers argue that Defense No. 17 should be preserved to the extent there are factual questions regarding the scope of preexisting corrosion at the Natrium Plant (if any) versus corrosion caused by the Tank Car Rupture. Brief at 40-41. An insurer asserting the application of a policy exclusion bears the burden of showing that the facts come within that exclusion, see Erwin, 525 S.E.2d at 395, and Westlake has no objection to the preservation of their Seventeenth Defense as to 3.C for this, and only this, narrow purpose. As to 3.D, the Insurers argue that the Seventeenth Defense should be preserved as to 3.D to the extent the Business Court acknowledges that "Section 3.D. would bar Plaintiff from recovering...the costs that Plaintiffs would have incurred to remedy the negligent repair work and render the tank car safe for use...." Brief at 41 (quoting J.A. 011930). This argument is moot, as Westlake is not seeking to recover the hypothetical costs of remedying the Maintenance Vendors' faulty weld repair work performed on AXLX1702.

RESPONDENTS, by Counsel: